
 

S T A TE  O F  M A IN E 
DE P AR TM E N T O F PR OF E SS IO N A L 

A N D  FIN A N C IA L  RE GU L AT IO N 
BOARD OF LICENSURE OF FORESTERS 

35 S TA TE  H O US E S TA T IO N 
A U G U S T A,  M A IN E 

04333-0035 
 

 

Janet T. Mills  Anne L. Head 

Governor  
 Commissioner 

Public Board Meeting 
Thursday, July 27, 2023 

Agenda 
 
 

Location: 221 State Street, Augusta ME 04330-Central Conference Room 

Time: 9:00 a.m. 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
 
II. AGENDA MODIFICATIONS AND APPROVAL 
 
III. MINUTES REVIEW AND APPROVAL 

• Review and Approval of May 25, 2023 Minutes 
 

IV. COMPLAINTS 
None 

 
V. DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

A. Presentation of Basis Statement and Summary and Response to Comments and Small Business 
Impact Statement for proposed rulemaking: 

• Chapter 70: Qualifications for a Forester License (Amended) 
• Chapter 70-A: Licensure by Endorsement (New) 
• Chapter 100: Code of Ethics (Repeal and Replace) 

 
Potential to vote to adopt 
 

VI. PUBLIC COMMENT 
Under this item, the Board will offer an opportunity to members of the public in attendance to comment on any public matter 
under the jurisdiction of the Board.  While the Board cannot take action on any issues presented, the Board will listen to 
comments and may ask staff to place the issue on a subsequent agenda.  At the discretion of the Board Chair, a time limit on 
comments may be set. 

 
VII. MEETING SCHEDULE 

 Next meeting is currently scheduled for Thursday, September 28, 2023 
 
VIII.  ADJOURNMENT 

 
F A X :  ( 2 0 7 ) 6 2 4 - 8 6 3 7  

 
PRINTED ON RECYCLED PAPER 

TTY users call Maine Relay 711 P H O N E :  ( 2 0 7 ) 6 2 4 - 8 5 2 1  

www.maine.gov/professionallicensing 

  
O F F I C E S  T E M P O R A R I L Y  L O C A T E D  A T :   

 
2 2 1  S T A T E  S T  A U G U S T A ,  M E  0 4 3 3 0  Shara.Chesley@maine.gov 

mailto:Shara.Chesley@maine.gov


 

 

DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL AND FINANCIAL REGULATION 
OFFICE OF PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL REGULATION 

221 State Street Augusta, ME 04330 
 

BOARD OF LICENSURE OF FORESTERS 
MINUTES OF IN PERSON BOARD MEETING 

May 25, 2023 
 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT OTHERS PRESENT 

John Ackley, Chair Catherine Pendergast, Director 
Sarah Medina Elizabeth Stivers, Assistant Attorney General  
Keith Kanoti Regina Ritchie, Professional Licensing Supervisor 
Steve Pelletier Shara Chesley, Office Specialist 1 
Theodore Shina, Complaint Officer Jen Maddox, Office Specialist I 
  
MEMBERS ABSENT  
  
  

 

Location:  
221 State Street, Augusta 

Start: 9:02 a.m. End: 10:57 a.m. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 
The meeting was called to order by the Chair, John Ackley at 9:02 a.m. 
 

AGENDA MODIFICATIONS 
None . 
 

MINUTES REVIEW AND APPROVAL 
A motion was made by Shina and seconded by Kanoti to approve the January 26, 2023 minutes. Ackley, 
Medina, Kanoti, and Shina voted in the affirmative. Pelletier abstained.  
 

PROPOSED RULEMAKING: Chapter 70: Qualifications for a Forester License, Chapter 70-A: 
Licensure by Endorsement and Chapter 100: Code of Ethics  
 
Public Hearing 
 
COMPLAINT PRESENTATIONS 
2022-FOR-18774 
A motion was made by Medina and seconded by Pelletier to offer a consent agreement with a warning. Motion 
withdrawn by Medina. 
A motion was made by Ackley to offer a consent agreement with a warning. No second. Motion failed. 
A motion was made by Medina and seconded by Pelletier to dismiss the complaint with a letter of guidance. 
Ackley, Medina, Kanoti, and Pelletier voted in the affirmative. Shina abstained.  
 

DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
The Board discussed the possibility of the Forest Service requiring licensed foresters to report discipline to the 
Board and directed AAG Stivers to look into the matter. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
A member of the public made comments regarding the rule review discussion.  
 

ADJOURNMENT 
A motion was made by Pelletier and seconded by Medina to adjourn the meeting at 10:57 a.m. Unanimous. 

Page 2 of 88



1. Greg Foster.  Timberstate G., Inc., Consulting Forester, Raymond, ME.   Thank you very 
much my name is Greg Foster and I’m a consulting forester in southern main. I offer 
services to landowners and I offer myself as an agent to represent landowners’ best interest 
in doing timber sales.  And I’m here just in support of the Code of Ethics Change.  I support 
that and it comes from experience of clients that I’ve worked with that I was preparing to 
do some work for them and then I was interfered in the sense of by procurement forester 
who offered to do some things that were contrary to what I believed was right for the forest 
landowner.  And this is the reason I think the Code of Ethics can be tightened up a little 
bit.  And I don’t think it would stop procurement foresters doing what they’re doing but it 
might make it a little better in terms of them representing themselves accurately and 
correctly to the clients so they know what to expect from that forester.  I don’t know, I 
think that’s all I need to say, and certainly can answer any questions you have.  
 

2. Cliff Foster.  Timberstate G., Inc., Consulting Forester.  I work for the Maine Forest 
Service for 36 years, retired in 1986 and started my own consulting business, which my 
son is now running.  I will say one thing, I’m not a fan of government getting involved in 
business particularly on some issues.  This issue before us is one that happened because of 
somebody who had a license as a forester and also had a logging business.  There is a 
conflict there, because who does he represent – the landowner or his own business of 
buying timber?  I think it’s an ethics question more than anything else.  Uh, that’s especially 
something that you guys have to deal with and I don’t think it’s a simple one.  Some of the 
people who are in this business are friends of mine for example.  In that situation I think 
when you are running a business and representing a client supposedly you have to tow a 
pretty fine line and that’s what brought this bill here before us.  I thank you very much.  
 

3. Caleb Winslow.  Wadsworth Woodlands, Cornish, ME.   I am here to express my concern 
over certain biases with these code of ethics.  There are many ways in the state that foresters 
practice, particularly for private, small landowners.  There are many methods of business 
and models of forestry that can be conducted ethically and responsibly with good outcomes 
and landowner objectives at heart.  There is no way to legislate ethics, someone is either 
going to practice ethically with the forestry model they choose or they are not.  And, seems 
that from an outsiders point of view that was not involved with developing these codes of 
ethics, there are certain forestry practices and models that are frowned upon just in the 
language of the ethics that can be done ethically and responsibly with the landowners’ best 
interests in mind.  And I think that you know certain forestry models and having certain 
advantages over some and disadvantages over others in a state’s licensure code of ethics is 
not necessarily the place to have those sorts of biases.  It feels as though ethics and the code 
of ethics for license should be more about values and what is right and what is wrong versus 
identifying certain forestry business models that introduce ethical decisions.  Because at 
the end of the day whether someone is purchasing stumpage or operating under 
commissions or fees, if they are in the woods making decisions on behalf of landowners 
there are ethical decisions to be made regardless of how the forester is paid.  If there is any 
compensation based on timber whatsoever, there are ethical decisions involved with the 

Page 3 of 88



commencement of those operations.  To have a Code of Ethics that biases one model over 
others is just inaccurate and not true representation of how many various successful ways 
to operate forestry there are in this state.  
 

4. Reny Noel.  Southern Maine Forestry Services. Windham, ME.  You’ve heard a lot from 
me over the last 3 years, it’s the end of long process.  Sunday I got a call.  Stopped and 
picked up the phone; it was a distraught landowner.  She had been away for a little while, 
she came home, she found her woodland, in her words, “devastated.”  I asked her, do you 
have a contract?  She said “yes.”  I said then you have a contract dispute, you need to talk 
to a lawyer.  The woman was distraught, she went into a long story, a forester who showed 
up there, sold her his services, and then did not make her happy.  He did not disclose that 
he was a procurement forester.  Disclosure is the root of all ethics.  I’m not on the stand 
where the opposition to disclosure of what you are doing comes from. If you are a 
consulting forester with a fiduciary responsibility to the client, you disclose that.  If you 
are a forester looking to buy stumpage or buy logs, you disclose that.  To veil the purpose 
of why you are there I can’t understand any reason other than to the various reasons why 
you would veil you are there to procure.  You guys have heard it from me before over the 
past three years and that ends my comment.  
 

5. Harrod Burnett, Two Trees Forestry, Winthrop, ME.  Licensing is a consumer protection 
policy. The proposal seeking to distinguish those foresters, with a fiduciary responsibility 
to their landowning clients, from those employed by loggers and mills is an important 
distinction and overdue addition to our Code of Ethics. As the owner of a three-person 
consulting firm, with clients throughout southern Maine, it is our job to work in our clients' 
best interests. While I don't mean to suggest that we alone, among foresters, are able to 
clear that high bar, I've always been bothered by the slight deceit that is served by those 
who work for mills yet call themselves “landowner assistance foresters.” While I don't 
mean to disparage the integrity of many of these colleagues, as a basic consumer protection 
imperative, the landowning public should expect and would benefit if they heard this short 
introduction from procurement foresters, “I’m here to buy your wood. Though I will try to 
act on your behalf, my fiduciary responsibility is to my company and its fiber supply 
needs." If licensing's goal is to educate and protect the public, then I believe that our code 
of ethics should be amended as proposed. 
 

6. Tom Cushman.  Maine Custom Woodlands, Durham, ME.  Good Morning, My name is 
Tom Cushman and I am a Maine Licensed Forester. I am here today to oppose the proposed 
changes in the Foresters code of ethics. I would like to add I believe that the current code 
of ethics is excessively too long and much to prescriptive. First, I would like to remind 
everyone of a statement from the Maine Forester Board Website: “The Primary 
responsibility of the Board is to ensure the competency of foresters through examination; 
to issue licenses to those qualified to hold the title of forester, and to investigate complaints 
of noncompliance with or violations of the law and board rules.” This proposed change to 
the Code of ethics does not align in my view with the responsibilities of the board. The 
code of ethics is for the individual with the license, not the company they work for how 
how they do business. The COE should not define how the forester does business or who 

Page 4 of 88



they work for. Currently 15 states require licensing of foresters, 11 have COE associated 
with their respective licensing system and 10 of those are 1-1.5 pages long.  Many of those 
follow the SAF Code of Ethics.  1-1.5 pages long and contain about 350 words.  Maines 
COE as you folks know is 7 pages long and has 1877 words. The board should be looking 
at making its COE shorter not longer and less restrictive! SAF's COE is a little more then 
a page and is adopted by many other states as I previously mentioned. 
 
The proposed COE is clearly trying to promote consultant forestry businesses and say they 
are superior to other ways of doing business, like stumpage procurement. None of these 
forms of doing business has anything to do with the individual forester and how they are 
licensed.  You know, I’ve got a 4 year degree, I did an internship, I’ve got my license, and 
I have a COE to follow.  So, none of that has anything to do with how business is done as 
long as the business being done is legal.   
 

7. Sam Blatchford, Maine Custom Woodlands, Durham, ME.  I believe the proposed rule 
changes to COE seem to only recognize procurement as a type of forester; to specifically 
target them suggests their business model is unethical.  Throughout the proposed rule 
changes to the COE, passive allegations are spelled out and are not only I believe to be 
inaccurate but I think that they will have a direct negative impact on the forest industry in 
Maine as a whole, as thousands of acres are harvested with the oversight of procurement 
foresters every year.    
 

8. Jeremy Stultz, Sappi, Durham, ME.  I don’t really have much to add.  I guess I was here 
as part the subcommittee that helped come with all of this stuff. I think we reached the best 
compromise we could on a lot of the issues that were in front of us.  And really the choice 
is up to this board as to whether or not they want to proceed with what they have based on 
testimony today or not.  I guess from my perspective did the best we could to come up with 
what we have and I think it’s ok.  I do feel like similar to previous testimony there should 
not be an inherent ethical value placed on whether somebody is employed by somebody 
else or whether they are working on their own. I reject the notion that just because I am 
employed by somebody else who happens to be a manufacturing facility that buys timber 
that I can’t inherently operate ethically for a particular landowner that I’m working for.   
 

9. Ted Wright, Brunswick, ME.  I’m an intern forester testifying today as an individual.  So, 
I’ve been following this for about 3 years, ever since the licensure board became available 
by Zoom. I attended the first Zoom meeting I believe.  I just want to state one thing I did 
find that was shocking with that meeting, is that there were things discussed during that 
board meeting that used people’s companies’ names, broadcast to everybody.  And I was 
there, those were recorded, it happened several times, and those companies were called out 
during a licensure board meeting because they had a complaint lobbied against them.  
Which I found shocking and extremely unprofessional.  And I don’t know where that 
landed, I think somebody did mention that we are not allowed to use names and it was done 
two or three times after.   
 

Page 5 of 88



Since then, I really felt like I wanted to watch this.  Because I do work for a nonprofit, I’m 
not representing them today.  But I care about the industry.  If everyone hasn’t heard, the 
industry may be crumbling around us.  And I care about the people who work, from the 
loggers to the foresters, to the mills, we all need to be successful and profitable and continue 
to provide good work.   
 
So I want to start with that.  That brings me to today.  A lot of stuff has been happening, 
like I said, I followed all these meetings.  It keeps going back to the business model.  And 
I’m thinking to myself, as a new intern forester, like why is this going back to a business 
model when this is an individual license. This has nothing to do with who you work for. 
It’s about acting ethically as an individual forester.  That’s all I can do in my nonprofit 
experience.  I sit at a desk and do stuff but I’m still an intern licensed forester and I act 
ethically, it doesn’t matter who I work for.   
And just to bring that up, none of that is explained in here.  It’s only about procurement 
foresters versus consultant foresters.  Those are the only two topics that are here.  I’m not 
even listed in these new roles and duties here.  Because I do not think anybody cares; this 
is a battle between two groups.  One I think has had a lot more to do with it and a lot more 
influence, as we’re here today with some things that people are concerned about, kind of 
shows you how much influence that side has had.    
I do just want to touch on the length of the code of ethics as well.  Reading this thing, I 
researched all the other code of ethics in US, and they are all very short and very to the 
point and they are only about the individual.  They never mention who the business is that 
you work for and how that is going to influence your decisions.  As a licensed forester, an 
individual, you act ethically.  That’s what this board is about, period.  Doesn’t matter who 
you work for.  These other states, same thing, they’re just one page, ours is 6, 7 pages, all 
kinds of like things like oh, if you work for this person, then you have to do this, because 
you automatically being considered unethical in my opinion.  That’s what this COE does.   
 
If we want to go that model, the Real Estate licensure system has a model of brokerages 
which are the companies you know who can do what the companies do and they act 
ethically under that and then there is a brokerage model, a real estate model for individuals, 
for the realtors.  Two different things.  You have the individual and the company. Doesn’t 
matter who they work for they can get a new job anywhere and they still hold their license.    
Somebody that’s brokerage, they have to act ethically and have to make sure their realtors 
act ethically.  Plain and simple.  Business and individual.  We’re talking about an individual 
license here.   
I’ve been reading a lot about this stuff.  Just, it’s been going on since like 1999.  A lot of 
consultants will say, like we do a lot of RFPs, we work with contracts and stuff like that 
and I’ve never seen a consultant they are always paid hourly, like it’s a 100 bucks.  What’s 
that value, here’s 100 here’s 200, whatever your value is, that’s how you work in my 
opinion with a consultant.  When consultants get commission, like a lot of times forestry 
consultants get a commission on hard wood logs, they get 20%, they get 15%. You have a 
paint gun, it’s under your power how much you want to spray, you can make more money 

Page 6 of 88



as a consultant because you are getting a percentage of the income.  I want to just lay that 
out, that has not been discussed and I find that may be an ethical issue because we are all 
just talking about how we all just work for the landowner no matter what.  Well there is 
money involved.  You can spray $10K worth of wood and get $2000 or spray $100K worth 
of wood.  It’s all their decision, because it’s all in their power as a consultant forester.   
 
In closing, I guess, I think the thing is really long and in my opinion, could be shortened. 
And look more like the other states.  And let’s not have these battles over all these things.  
I work in a bunch of different states all around the country.  None of these states have 
battles between foresters and procurement foresters and loggers.  So maybe if we don’t 
have a COE that’s so long and prescriptive, we won’t’ have all these underlying issues that 
nobody likes to talk about but apparently we are here today because we are talking about 
them.  Other states do not have that  it’s been shocking and refreshing and I guess would 
be the word in other states that do not have these conflicts between all these different 
groups.  I would appreciate a shortened code of ethics.   
 

10. Ben Balet, Sappi, Belgrade, ME.  I’m a licensed intern forester.  I’d like to amend that I 
am representing myself as an individual and not our organization today.  I think that this 
entire ethical amendment process here today was brought on because of competition 
between business and it has nothing to do with individual ethics.  I agree with what most 
of the speakers today here have to say.  I consider myself to be an ethical individual and  I 
think what we are questioning and what the amendment is questioning is the ethics of 
business.   
 

11. Ben Carlisle.  President of Prentiss and Carlisle, Bangor, ME.  We are a forest manager 
and forestry consulting firm located here in Bangor.  I am not a license forester but we do 
employ a lot of them.  We have approximately 75 employees, many of whom are licensed 
foresters, and most of whom are in Maine. We also employ various administrative staff, as 
well as six of our own logging crews and various equipment operators. And I like to think 
that we operate with the highest and professional ethical standards that are in the industry. 
Next year my firm will celebrate 100 years of being in business, and I believe our record 
of professionalism stands by itself.  
 
To be clear, I am speaking today in opposition of these proposed changes in Chapter 100. 
I am doing so after very careful thought and consideration because I believe we should all 
hold ourselves accountable to a high ethical standard, and I believe this Board should 
expect and even enforce those standards in its licensing.  

My opposition to these proposals stems from three general concepts and I have 
significant concerns about specific language used in this proposal.  But I recognize that I 
do not have a lot of time so I do intend to submit written comments that go into more 
detail and I kindly ask that the Board consider those comments as well as my comments 
here today.    

Page 7 of 88



I believe the proposed changes in Chapter 11 are confusing to understand, and onerous to 
implement.  I read legislation and legal documents all the time.  Sometimes it feels like my 
only job.  And yet I could not conclude one way or another whether or not certain 
disclosures might be required for some of the activities that we are doing. And I call 
particular attention to Chapter 100, Subparagraph 6, Subsection C, Item (1), sub-bullet (c). 
And again I will submit written comments but I could not interpret the intent, or determine 
in which cases it might apply. And confusion leads to a lack of ability to interpret, to enact 
the rules, and I believe will lead to difficulty in enforcement for this Board. The Code of 
Ethics should be simple, easy to understand, everybody knows what a conflict of interest 
is and where it applies.  And if you look at most other codes of ethics as been previously 
talked about in the office of Maine professional licensing, they are generally limited to 2 
pages. This proposal is nine or ten.  

 
Second, I believe that narrowly defining the roles that this proposal does, and requiring 
foresters to select one role when performing services, makes it difficult for this Board to 
enforce the Code of Ethics. The Code of Ethics should be general in nature and allow this 
Board as much latitude as possible during enforcement actions. I can see a licensee going 
back and forth and defending and arguing and defending exactly what role they were 
performing in what circumstance and trying to pigeon hole these roles and these forester 
activities and craft rules around them will ultimately remove an important enforcement tool 
for this board, which is interpretation.  

 
Third, I believe that the proposed rules seem to be carefully crafted to zero in on only one 
particular potential conflict of interest, that of buying stumpage. In the proposed rules, 
certain disclosures are only required when timber harvesting, inexplicably, and there are a 
myriad of other services that foresters offer which could also cause a conflict of interest 
to arise. The ugly truth is that foresters who buy stumpage, as well as those that sell 
stumpage, can be both conflicted. Said in another way, if you are paid on a percentage 
basis – which some people consider to be the gold standard of ethics – you are still 
incented to hygrade the lot.  You are still incented to take kickbacks from loggers for 
giving them jobs. The lots may still be destroyed by a logger, the landowner may still be 
exposed and misled into poor silviculture and this Board should be focused on those 
unethical behaviors; it should be protecting the public from those issues, not from trying 
to specify what type of business models are ethical in rulemaking.  And conversely, I will 
note that stumpage procurement can be done completely ethically.   
 
Lastly and specifically and again I will submit written comments but Chapter 100, 
Paragraph 6, Subsection C, Item (1), sub-bullet (d), you’ll see how confusing this is,  speaks 
about disclosure of contracts to sell timber exclusively to one market. This is both an 
inappropriate encroachment into business practice, and I ask the Board to consider the 
situation where the forester may be completely unaware of an exclusive arrangement, as 
well as confidentiality provisions that legally prohibit this type of disclosure. For example, 
in my business, the forester procuring wood is completely disconnected from the person 
that sells wood into markets. There’s a firewall in place, and it is intentional. We do not 
currently have any exclusive arrangements, but if a forester did, or if we did, a forester 
would be completely unaware.  
  

Page 8 of 88



Ultimately, I think the rules proposed in Chapter 100 are going to create a disincentive for 
a licensee to perform additional professional services that would otherwise be a benefit to 
the public.  The COE should be encouraging licensees to serve the public with a wide 
variety of services and onerous rules and contracts and role defining rules may limit 
licensees from doing so.  Some of the proposed rules and other people have highlighted 
this, such as in section 3 are veering away from promoting a COE and intruding into 
business practices and disclosure of propriety information that do little to promote the true 
ethical behavior which I believe this board is responsible for enforcing. So, I agree with 
the spirit of enforcing ethical behavior, I think the existing rules are working and the new 
rules are confusing.  

12. Elizabeth Olivier Cushman.  I speak to stand in opposition to the proposed changes to 
the foresters’ COE.  A little bit of background, I’ve been a licensed forester in Maine since 
1985.  And as a forester, I have worked for paper companies, land companies, private 
individuals, logging contractors in Northern Maine, schools as an educator and a forestry 
instructor, and for a forest management company.  I started off with a map and compass, 
business was sought out by radio and newsprint adds, word of mouth and knocking on 
doors.  Obviously that’s not the case anymore.  I’ve worked as an individual with partners 
to secure wood and to manage and to potentially harvest timber.  In nearly 40 years, and 
through these various positions as a licensed forester, no state agency has ever told me how 
I earn my income, my wage.  No one has ever questioned my integrity or my code of ethics.  
These proposed changes do not have to do with that.  The proposed changes have to do 
with a group of people who are trying to manage how another group of people are making 
a living.  Are engineers, lawyers, doctors, tradespeople, contractors questioned about how 
they secure their business, about how they do their work?  Do they have intermediaries to 
do their work?  They could have a private practice, work in a firm, a partnership, own a 
company, and work with a cohort of people. They all could and all represent their own 
businesses as well as the individual.  I’m  not even sure why this is being considered.  The 
COE is not the issue here and should not even be up for discussion.  In short, I do not want 
anybody else telling me how to make my living, I do not want anybody challenging my 
ethics and don’t challenge my integrity. So, I’m not sure how this started out except that 
the group of people trying to affect another group of people and how they make a living.  
 

 

 

 

Page 9 of 88



Page 10 of 88



Page 11 of 88



Page 12 of 88



Page 13 of 88



Page 14 of 88



Page 15 of 88



Page 16 of 88



Page 17 of 88



Page 18 of 88



Page 19 of 88



Page 20 of 88



Page 21 of 88



Page 22 of 88



Page 23 of 88



Page 24 of 88



Page 25 of 88



Page 26 of 88



Page 27 of 88



Page 28 of 88



Page 29 of 88



Page 30 of 88



Page 31 of 88



Page 32 of 88



Page 33 of 88



Page 34 of 88



Page 35 of 88



Page 36 of 88



Page 37 of 88



Page 38 of 88



Page 39 of 88



Page 40 of 88



Page 41 of 88



Page 42 of 88



Page 43 of 88



Page 44 of 88



Page 45 of 88



Page 46 of 88



Page 47 of 88



Page 48 of 88



Page 49 of 88



Page 50 of 88



Page 51 of 88



Page 52 of 88



Page 53 of 88



Page 54 of 88



Page 55 of 88



Page 56 of 88



Page 57 of 88



Page 58 of 88



Page 59 of 88



Page 60 of 88



Page 61 of 88



Page 62 of 88



Page 63 of 88



Page 64 of 88



Page 65 of 88



Page 66 of 88



Page 67 of 88



Page 68 of 88



Page 69 of 88



Page 70 of 88



Page 71 of 88



Page 72 of 88



Page 73 of 88



Page 74 of 88



02 DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL AND FINANCIAL REGULATION 

333 BOARD OF LICENSURE OF FORESTERS 

Chapter 70: QUALIFICATIONS FOR FORESTER LICENSE 

Summary: This chapter sets forth the education, experience, and examination requirements for licensure 
as a forester. 

1. Education

An applicant is required to either have a forestry degree or 60 contact hours of supplemental
forestry education. The requirements for a qualifying forestry degree and the requirements for
qualifying supplemental forestry education are set forth in Chapter 40, Qualifications for Intern
Forester License.

2. Forestry experience

An applicant is required to demonstrate experience in the following four subject areas. Each of
the four subject areas must be represented in the applicant’s work history.

1. Forest Biology – including but not limited to tree growth, species identification, forest
ecology, wildlife and fish ecology and habitat manipulation, tree disease and insect
problems, silviculture, soils and water relationships, and fire ecology.

2. Forest Resources Measurement – including but not limited to basic surveying, area
determination, sample design and analysis, measurements of trees and forest products,
and photo interpretation and mapping.

3. Forest Resource Management and Harvesting – including but not limited to multiple-
use principles, road design and construction, harvest layout, harvesting methods,
environmental protection, marketing and utilization standards, stand analysis and
prescriptions, forest and wildlife habitat management, recreation management, urban
forestry, fire, insect and disease protection, and financial management.

4. Forest Resource Policy and Administration – including but not limited to state
environmental and forest practice laws, boundary and trespass laws, contract and sale
administration, forest taxation, and forest economics.

3. Forester examination

The examination for a forester license is a two-part examination. Part 1 is an examination that
tests the applicant’s knowledge of Maine forestry practices, laws, rules and policies. Part 2 is an
examination approved by the board that tests the applicant’s knowledge of forestry principles.

PROPOSED RULES

Page 75 of 88



 
4. Pathways to forester licensure 
 
 1. Lawful forestry experience as a licensed intern forester 
 

A. An applicant must have obtained lawful forestry experience under one of the 
following methods: 
 
(1) An applicant with a bachelor’s degree or higher and 24 months of forestry 

experience as a licensed intern forester (including forestry experience of 
up to 12 months earned as an unlicensed person under the supervision of a 
forester registered with the board obtained after the applicant’s junior year 
of the degree program and prior to graduation), and who passes Part 1 of 
the forester examination, may qualify for a forester license. The 
examination may be taken prior to completion of the internship. 

 
(2) An applicant with an associate’s degree and 48 months of forestry 

experience as a licensed intern forester (including forestry experience of 
up to 12 months earned as an unlicensed person under the supervision of 
a forester registered with the board obtained after the applicant’s first 
year of the degree program and prior to graduation), and who passes 
Part 1 of the forester examination, may qualify for a forester license. The 
examination may be taken prior to completion of the internship. 

 
(3) An applicant who obtained an intern forester license through the variance 

pathway and earned 48 months of experience as a licensed intern 
forester, and who passes Parts 1 and 2 of the examination, may qualify 
for a forester license. Completion of the 48 months of experience as an 
intern forester is a prerequisite to qualifying for the examination.  

 
B. Full-time equivalency 
 

The forestry internship is expected to be a full-time experience. Part-time 
experience is acceptable, but must accumulate to the full-time equivalent of the 
48-month or 24-month internship required by 32 MRS §5515(3)(A) or (B), as the 
case may be. Full-time equivalency shall also apply to those applicants in a 
degree program who earn forestry experience toward the internship requirement 
prior to the issuance of an intern forester license pursuant to 32 MRS 
§5515(3)(A)(1) and (B)(1). 

 
C. Log 
 

The intern forester shall maintain a log during the course of the internship. The 
log shall record the dates, employer, location, duties and subject area with respect 
to each assignment performed by the intern forester. The intern forester shall 
produce the log to the Board for inspection at any time. The log requirement shall 
also apply to those applicants in a degree program who earn forestry experience 
toward the internship requirement prior to the issuance of an intern forester 
license pursuant to 32 MRS § 5515(3)(A)(1) and (B)(1). 

 

Page 76 of 88



D. Completion of internship 
 

Upon completion of the internship and payment of the applicable fee, the intern 
forester may apply for licensure as a forester on forms provided by the Board.  

 
E. Sponsors 
 
 (1) Guidance 
 

All forestry work performed by an intern forester must be performed 
under the guidance of a forester who has agreed to sponsor the intern 
forester. Such guidance need not be day-to-day, direct personal 
supervision. However, the sponsor must have sufficiently detailed, 
current knowledge of the intern forester’s work to enable the sponsor to: 
 
(a) Adequately evaluate the intern forester’s performance on an 

ongoing basis; and 
 
(b) Submit the reference at the conclusion of the internship required 

by 32 MRS §5515(4). 
 

 (2) Replacement sponsor 
 

If a forester ceases to serve as sponsor without arranging for a 
replacement, an intern forester working under the guidance of that 
forester must arrange for a replacement within 30 days of the sponsor’s 
resignation or unavailability. No work performed by an intern forester 
after 30 days following the resignation or unavailability of the sponsor 
will be recognized as part of the internship unless and until a replacement 
sponsor is obtained. The intern must immediately notify the board of the 
name and address of the replacement sponsor. 

 
Notwithstanding anything in this subsection to the contrary, the intern 
forester may not endorse plans, maps and reports unless the document 
has been actually reviewed by the sponsor of the intern forester prior to 
endorsement.  

 
2. Lawful forestry experience in another jurisdiction 

 
A. An applicant with a bachelor’s degree or higher and 24 months of lawful forestry 

experience in another jurisdiction within 6 years preceding the date of application 
may qualify for a forester license. The applicant is required to pass Part 1 of the 
examination. 
 

B. An applicant with an associate’s degree and 48 months of lawful forestry 
experience in another jurisdiction within 6 years of the date of application may 
qualify for a forester license. The applicant is required to pass Part 1 of the 
examination. 
 

C. An applicant with 60 hours of supplemental forestry education, 4 years of lawful 
forestry experience within 10 years preceding the date of application, and 

Page 77 of 88



24 months of lawful forestry experience in another jurisdiction within the 6 year 
period preceding the date of application, may qualify for a forester license. The 
applicant is required to pass Parts 1 and 2 of the examination. Completion of the 
forestry experience is a prerequisite to qualifying for the examination. 
 

3. Lawful forestry experience as an employee of the federal government 
 

A. An applicant with a bachelor’s degree or higher and 24 months of lawful forestry 
experience as an employee of the federal government within 6 years preceding 
the date of application may qualify for a forester license. The applicant is 
required to pass Part 1 of the examination. 

 
B. An applicant with an associate’s degree and 48 months of lawful forestry 

experience as an employee of the federal government within 6 years of the date 
of application may qualify for a forester license. The applicant is required to pass 
Part 1 of the examination. 

 
C. An applicant with 60 hours of supplemental forestry education, 4 years of lawful 

forestry experience within 10 years preceding the date of application, and 
24 months of lawful forestry experience as an employee of the federal 
government within the 6 year period preceding the date of application, may 
qualify for a forester license. The applicant is required to pass Parts 1 and 2 of 
the examination. Completion of the forestry experience is a prerequisite to 
qualifying for the examination. 

 
4. Licensed in another jurisdiction  

 
An applicant licensed in good standing in another jurisdiction is exempted from the 
education and forestry experience qualifications set forth in this chapter. The applicant is 
required to pass Parts 1 and 2 of the examination. 

 
 
 
STATUTORY AUTHORITY: 32 M.R.S. §§ 5506(2), 5515(3), (5), (5-A), (6), (10) and 5516(2) 
 
EFFECTIVE DATE: 
 January 1, 1991 - part of Chapter 5, "General Requirements for Licensure" 
 
AMENDED: 
 February 9, 1991 
 May 23, 1994 
 May 12, 1996 
 
EFFECTIVE DATE (ELECTRONIC CONVERSION): 
 October 23, 1996 
 
REPEALED AND REPLACED: 
 February 16, 2002 - as Chapter 70, "Licensure as Forester" 
 
REPEALED AND REPLACED: 
 April 1, 2015 – filing 2015-037, titled "Qualifications for Forester License" 

Page 78 of 88



02  DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL AND FINANCIAL REGULATION 
 
333  BOARD OF LICENSURE OF FORESTERS 
 
Chapter 70-A: LICENSURE BY ENDORSEMENT 
 
 
Summary: This Chapter outlines the process to issue a license by endorsement to an applicant who 
presents proof of licensure by another jurisdiction of the United States as long as the other jurisdiction 
maintains substantially equivalent license requirements. 
 
 
1. LICENSURE BY ENDORSEMENT  
 
 An individual applying for a license by endorsement must meet the following requirements.  
 
 1. License From Another U.S. Jurisdiction 
 
  An applicant licensed by another U.S. jurisdiction who seeks licensure in Maine  
  pursuant to 10 M.R.S. § 8003-H must: 
 
  A.  Hold a valid, active forester license issued by another jurisdiction of the United 

States that maintains substantially equivalent license requirements for the type of 
license sought;  

 
  B.  Pass the jurisprudence examination as set forth in Section 1(3) of this Chapter; 
     
  C. Submit a completed application form; and 
 
  C.  Submit any fee as required by Chapter 10 of the rules of the Office of Professional 

and Occupational Regulation. 
 
 2. Substantially Equivalent License Requirements 
   
  “Substantially equivalent license requirements” means that the jurisdiction maintains a  
  pathway for initial licensure that at a minimum requires the education and experience  
  as set forth in Section 2(1)(A)-(B). 
 
  1. Forester.   
 
   A.   Associate’s Degree and Experience.  
 
    i.  An associate’s degree in forestry or forest technology from an program 

accredited by the Society of American Foresters or the equivalent 
curriculum;  

 
    and  
 

Page 79 of 88



    ii. A minimum of four years of full time forestry experience under the 
supervision of a licensed forester or that otherwise demonstrates the 
applicant is competent to practice forestry.  

 
   B.   Bachelor’s Degree and Experience.  
 
    i. A bachelor’s degree or higher in forestry or forest technology from an  
    program accredited by the Society of American Foresters or the equivalent  
    curriculum;  
 
    and  
  
    ii. A minimum of two years of full time forestry experience under the  
    supervision of a licensed forester or that otherwise demonstrates the  
    applicant is competent to practice forestry. 
  
 3. Jurisprudence Examination 
  
  All applicants seeking licensure by endorsement pursuant to this chapter must pass Part 1 
                          of the forester license examination set forth in Chapter 70, Section 3 of Board rules.  
 
 4. Proof of Good Standing in All Jurisdictions 
 
  An applicant must be in good standing in all jurisdictions in which the applicant holds or  
  has held a license.  For purposes of this subsection, “good standing” means that the  
  applicant does not have a complaint, allegation or investigation pending, does not have a  
  license that is suspended or subject to practice restrictions, and has never surrendered a  
  license or had a license revoked. 
   
 
 
STATUTORY AUTHORITY:  32 M.R.S. §§ 5506, 5516(D); 10 M.R.S. § 8003-H 
 
EFFECTIVE DATE: 
  
 
  
 

Page 80 of 88



02  DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL AND FINANCIAL REGULATION 
 
333  BOARD OF LICENSURE OF FORESTERS 
 
Chapter 100: CODE OF ETHICS 
 
 
Summary: This chapter defines unprofessional practice as failure to comply with the Code of 
Ethics adopted by the board in this chapter. 
 
 
1. Code of Ethics; Unprofessional Practice 
 
 The following Code of Ethics defines the conduct of foresters in their relations with 

clients, employers, other professionals, and the public. Unprofessional practice 
includes but is not limited to any failure to comply with the Code of Ethics. 

 
2. Definitions 
 
 As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise indicates, the following terms 

have the following meanings: 
 

1. Client.  “Client” means person or entity who has entered into an 
agreement for services with a forester or the forester’s employer.    

 
2. Conflict of interest.  “Conflict of interest” means a situation when a 

forester has a duty to more than one person or entity but cannot equally 
represent the actual or potential adverse interests of both parties.  This 
includes when a forester’s personal interests or concerns are inconsistent 
with the best interests of a client. 

 
3. Fiduciary responsibility.  “Fiduciary responsibility” means the obligation 

to act in the best interests of the client within accepted forestry practice. 
 
4. Forester.  “Forester” means a person who holds a license from the Board 

as a forester or an intern forester.  The roles in which a forester may 
provide services include but are not limited to the following: 

 
A. Procurement, which means purchasing forest products that have 

commercial value;  
B. Consulting, which means providing services through private 

practice or employed by an entity whose services are available to 
the general public;  

C. Public services, which means providing services to a government 
entity; or 

Page 81 of 88



D. Landowner or management assistance, which means providing 
services to a wood buying entity which may offer or perform 
forestry services.    

 
5. Management.  “Management” means the planning and implementation of 

proven and accepted scientific forestry methods, appropriate to the 
specific forest conditions, to achieve a desired or improved result 
compared to current conditions.   
 

6. Stumpage.  “Stumpage” means the value of standing trees. 
 
7. Supplier.  “Supplier” means a landowner or other entity selling stumpage 

or severed forest products. 
 
8. Timber appraisal.  “Timber appraisal” means the process or methodology 

of developing an opinion or estimate of value of stumpage or timber value.  
Timber appraisal is not an offer of a purchase price by a prospective buyer 
or a published history of past payment for similar property but may be 
partially based on such history.   

 
3. Obligations to Clients, Suppliers and Employers 
 
 A forester bears the following obligations to clients, suppliers and employers, except 

that subsections 4, 6, 7 and 9 below do not apply to foresters performing management 
services on land or timber owned, leased, or controlled by the employer of the forester 
or an agent or affiliate of the employer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, subsections 4, 
6, 7 and 9 do apply to foresters performing services in connection with stumpage 
purchase agreements associated with one-time or intermittent harvesting. 

 
 1. General Duty 
  

A forester must act towards the client, supplier, and employer in all 
professional matters with loyalty, fidelity, and integrity in word and deed.   

 
2. Prior to providing services, a forester must disclose to a client or supplier: 

 
A. To whom the forester owes a fiduciary duty with respect to the 

agreement;  
 
B. Whether the forester is procuring or soliciting forest products that have 

a commercial value;   
 

C. Any financial or purchase interest the forester of the forester’s 
employer has in the land or timber including the forester’s or forester’s 
employer’s interest in the stumpage or timber to be harvested and the 
relationship to the services to be provided by the forester; and 

Page 82 of 88



 
D. Any contracts to sell forest products exclusively to a particular market, 

mill, or purchaser.   
 

3. Confidentiality 
 
  A forester must not disclose information concerning the forester’s current or 

former client or employer without the client’s or employer’s express 
permission, except as required by law.  

 
 4. Conflicts of Interest 
 
  A. Generally. A forester must avoid a conflict of interest, or the 

appearance of a conflict of interest. If a conflict of interest a conflict is 
discovered, the forester must 

 
(1) Promptly and fully disclose the conflict to the client or 

employer in writing; and 
 
   (2) Either act immediately to resolve the conflict or obtain written 

consent from the client or employer. 
 
  B. Disclosure. The disclosure required by subparagraph (A)(1) above 

must include, but not be limited to: 
 

(1) The nature of the conflict; 
 

(2) The role in which the forester proposes to provide the services 
(e.g., procuring, consulting, providing landowner assistance or 
management assistance, providing services as an employee of 
a consulting firm, or providing services on behalf of a 
government entity;   

 

(3) The person or entity paying for the services and how payments 
are to be made; and 

 

(4) A description of any confidential client information that may 
be disclosed to the person or entity paying for the services. 

 
  C. Arising from timber appraisals. In the event that a conflict of interest 

arises as a result of a timber appraisal, the forester must disclose the 
conflict to the former client or employer and secure permission to 
share the appraisal information. 

 

Page 83 of 88



 5. Truthful Reporting   
 

A forester must provide truthful reports of forest conditions, health and quality 
based on current accepted forestry standards and knowledge.   

 
  6. Requirements Regarding Written Agreements  
 

Written client agreements minimize the potential for disagreement or 
misunderstanding.   

 
A. A forester must offer to provide written confirmation to the client of 

the duties to be performed by the forester for the client or supplier 
prior to commencing work on a project unless the project is to be 
completed within seven (7) days of the forester’s acceptance of the 
assignment.  

 
B. A forester must develop a signed written agreement with each client 

before: 
 

(1) Administering or overseeing a timber harvest; or 
 

(2) Undertaking a client engagement that is expected to result  
    in physical alteration of a parcel. 
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, where a written agreement is required 
under this section, an exception may exist for minor, urgent or 
unforeseen circumstances.  

 
C. If a written agreement is requested or required under this chapter, it 

must include the following provisions:    
 

(1) Disclosures as described in this chapter as applicable,  
 specifically:  

 
(a) To whom the forester owes a fiduciary duty with respect to the 

agreement;    
 

(b) The forester’s role, such as procuring forest products of 
commercial value, consulting, providing landowner assistance 
or management assistance, providing services as an employee 
of a consulting firm, or providing services on behalf of a 
government entity;    

 

(c) Any financial or purchase interest the forester of the forester’s 
employer has in the land or timber including the forester’s or 

Page 84 of 88



forester’s employer’s interest in the stumpage or timber to be 
harvested and the relationship to the services to be provided by 
the forester;   

 

(d) Any contracts to sell forest products exclusively to a particular 
market, mill, or purchaser;    

 

(e) The extent of work, setting forth with reasonable certainty the 
scope of the project; 

 

(f) The specific location of the land upon which the work is to be 
completed; 

 

(g) The estimated cost consistent with the provisions of subsection 
8 below; and  

 

(h) An estimated completion schedule. 
  

 
 7.   Fee Disclosure 
 
  Prior to providing services, a forester must disclose all direct and indirect costs 

or obligations of the services to be provided. This disclosure must include the 
rates, commissions and methods by which compensation must be calculated 
and any estimate of the overall cost of the services to be provided. If 
circumstances cause the fee estimate to become significantly inaccurate, the 
forester must consult the client and convey a revised estimate to the client as 
soon as practicable thereafter. 

 
 8. Fees 
 
  Fees may be negotiated on any mutually agreeable basis. No fee may be 

established upon a predetermined result or value.  With respect to timber 
appraisals, a forester may not accept a fee based upon the value of the timber 
being appraised, nor may a forester have any legal or equitable interest in the 
property being appraised. 

 
 
 9. Client Funds 
 
  A forester who has custody of client funds must maintain said funds in 

separate trust accounts, which are not commingled with the forester’s assets, 
but which may be commingled with other client funds.  Such forester must 

Page 85 of 88



retain records that accurately reflect the receipt of and debiting of client funds 
to the forester. 

 
 
 10. Due Care 
 
  A forester must strive to deliver all work on time and in a complete, accurate 

and competent manner, giving fair notice of any delays or deficiencies in the 
work. 

 
 11. Client Objectives 
 
  A forester must obtain a clear understanding of the client’s objectives in 

connection with providing any services to the client. 
 
 12. Qualified 
 
  A forester must perform only those services for which the forester is qualified 

by education or experience. 
 
 13. Other Experts 
 
  A forester must advise the client or employer to engage other experts and 

specialists in forestry or related fields whenever the interest of the client or 
employer would be best served by such action and the forester will work 
cooperatively with other professionals. 

 
 14. Endorsement of Document 
 
  A forester must only sign or seal those plans, reports, prescriptions, maps and 

specifications personally prepared by the forester or produced under the direct 
supervision or review of the forester. Any maps or property descriptions 
prepared for public record by a forester must clearly disclose “not a legal 
survey.” 

 
 15. Professional Standards 
 
  If a forester is asked to participate in forestry operations which would deviate 

from accepted forestry practices that could cause harm to the client, supplier, 
employer or forest, the forester must advise the client or employer in advance 
of the consequences of such deviation. In no event must a forester participate 
in or condone any violation of any laws. 

 
4. Obligations to the Public 
 
 1. Disclosure of Role 

Page 86 of 88



 
  A forester must clearly state on whose behalf the forester provides any 

opinions or makes any professional statements. In dealing with the public, a 
forester must clearly identify him or herself, the client, and any other person 
whose interests the forester is representing. 

 
 2. Public Comment 
 
  A forester must base public comment on forestry matters on accurate 

knowledge and must not distort or withhold pertinent information to 
substantiate a point of view. 

 
 3. Ethics First 
 

 A forester must uphold this Code of Ethics above the demands of 
employment. 

 
 4. Comply with Laws 
 
  A forester must at all times in the performance of forestry services abide by 

federal and state laws and municipal ordinances involving forestry and timber 
harvesting, land use, agriculture, natural resource management and protection, 
environmental protection and the handling of client funds. 

 
 5. Advertising 
 
  A forester must only advertise in a dignified and truthful manner, stating the 

services the forester is qualified and prepared to perform. Such advertisements 
may include references to fees charged, but may not include references to past 
clients served without their prior written consent. 

 
 6. Supervision of Unlicensed Individuals 
 
  A forester must comply with all provisions of the Forester Licensing law and 

the rules of the Board in connection with the supervision of the work of an 
individual not licensed by the Board. 

 
5. Obligations to Other Foresters 
 
 1. Recommendation 
 
  Information submitted by a forester about a candidate for a license from this 

Board, or in connection with a prospective client referral to another forester or 
professional, must be accurate, factual and objective. 

 

Page 87 of 88



 2. Duties of Sponsor 
 
  A forester must perform all duties and obligations imposed on the forester by 

the Forester Licensing law and the rules of the Board when acting as a sponsor 
of an intern forester. 

 
 
STATUTORY AUTHORITY: 32 M.R.S. § 5506(3) 
 
EFFECTIVE DATE: 
 

Page 88 of 88


	proposed rules for agenda.pdf
	Revised MAPA-3 (Notice of Agency Rulemaking Proposal)
	Revised Fact Sheet
	Proposed Ch. 70 (leg version)
	Proposed Ch. 70-A (Licensure by Endorsement)
	Proposed Ch. 100 (Ethics) 
	Chapter 100 Compare




